RECEIVED

Nov 12 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
In the Court of General Sessions

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001043

The StateRespondent,

v.

General T. Little.....Petitioner.

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III
SC Bar No. 102123
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400
ltraywick@robinsongray.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
SC Bar No. 1767

INTRODUCTION

Since the pretrial suppression hearing, the State's defense of the illegal search has been a moving target. Respectfully, the State's latest position fails as a matter of law and logic.

On the one hand, the State prepped its officer to testify that Dr. Little was not a suspect, he did not believe Dr. Little was hiding, he did not believe Dr. Little was armed and dangerous, and he had backup on the scene. Yet on the other hand, the State argues—in conclusory fashion—that the illegal search of Dr. Little's vehicle parked in the curtilage of his home was necessary to ensure officer safety. The State cannot have it both ways. And although officers had spoken with Dr. Little that evening, the State now revives its scurrilous contention that the warrantless search was necessary to ensure his welfare. Officers were not checking vehicles to make sure Dr. Little was okay, and the Court should reject the State's self-defeating argument about officer safety. These are merely post-hoc justifications for Deputy Colburn conducting an illegal search for the objective purpose of obtaining evidence to use against Dr. Little.

Pretext aside, the duration and scope of the search were not reasonable. If Deputy Colburn were truly clearing the vehicles for potential confederates, he could have done so in a matter of seconds with the aid of his flashlight. Instead, he spent upwards of two minutes meticulously searching the vehicles parked within the curtilage of the home. And even though he had already cleared Dr. Little's vehicle once, Deputy Colburn searched it again after snooping in the other

vehicles. These actions only further underscore the fallacy of his justifications for being there. Consider next the fruits of his illegal search: a smudge on the inside of the driver's side door and towels found in the floorboard. It is unrealistic to claim that an officer searching for a missing person or dangerous person would notice such an infinitesimal detail as the smudge found here. Similarly, a review of the pictures confirms no one could have possibly fit into the tight space where the towels were found. The Fourth Amendment, of course, does not countenance such trespasses and intrusions. And to this day, not a single attorney for the State has made an effort to justify Detective Muirhead's subsequent illegal search.

In addition to violating the Fourth Amendment, the State's unlawful searches ran afoul of article I, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. Although both parties addressed the merits of this issue in their briefs filed with the court of appeals, the State now tries to escape this Court's review by raising a specious preservation argument. But the issue was raised to and ruled upon by both the circuit court and the court of appeals. It is therefore preserved. Because the State relegated its merits argument to one footnote in its return, Dr. Little will simply rest upon the arguments in his petition on the merits of the state constitutional issue.

As to the motion for a mistrial, the State now seeks to defend the assistant solicitor's misconduct during closing argument, while conceding she was trying to connect Dr. Little to the murder because he wasn't wearing his wedding ring. In other words, the State unwittingly makes Dr. Little's harmless error argument for him. The circuit court suppressed this evidence prior to trial because officers unlawfully obtained it following a textbook Miranda violation. It never should have been mentioned. Yet the State did so anyway in the waning hours of trial. The Court should not condone such tactics, particularly where, as here, the improper mention of the ring only doubled down on the initial constitutional violation.

Turning last to the outsole footwear impressions testimony, the State curiously makes no effort to analyze its reliability. Instead of wrestling with the Council factors, the State simply points to a sampling of cases from other jurisdictions—none of which were presented to the circuit court—to argue this evidence is “widely accepted” and, thus, admissible. Return at 24. In doing so, the State continues to believe it was entitled to a pass on showing reliability. It was not. The State failed to meet its burden, the circuit court abused its discretion in admitting this prejudicial testimony, and the court of appeals erred in affirming.

Dr. Little deserves a fair trial cleansed of these prejudicial errors. The Court should therefore grant certiorari to address the “novel questions of law” and “substantial constitutional issues” raised in his petition, reverse, and remand. Rule 242(b)(1) & (b)(4), SCACR.

ARGUMENT

I. The State’s ever-evolving arguments cannot justify officers’ unlawful trespass into the curtilage of Dr. Little’s home to conduct an unreasonable search of his vehicle.

A. No exigent circumstances justified the search, and the scope and duration of the search were not reasonable.

“The prosecution bears the burden of establishing probable cause as well as the existence of circumstances constituting an exception to the general prohibition against warrantless searches and seizures.” State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013). Here, the State seeks to invoke the exigent circumstances doctrine to argue it was reasonable for Deputy Colburn to perform a safety sweep of the vehicles parked in the curtilage of the home. But Deputy Colburn was not conducting a safety sweep. Nor was he conducting a welfare check on Dr. Little. Instead, when taking all of the circumstances into account, Deputy Colburn’s behavior objectively reveals a purpose to conduct a search, “which is not what anyone would think he had license to do.” Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 10 (2013).

In support of its shifting argument, the State almost exclusively relies upon the circuit court’s comments during the suppression hearing. See Return at 12. For one, that’s not evidence. Cf. Evidence, BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (10th ed. 2014) (defining evidence as “[s]omething (including testimony, documents, and tangible objects) that tends to prove or disprove the existence or nonexistence of a fact”); James B. Thayer, Presumptions and the Law of Evidence, 3 HARV. L. REV. 141, 142 (1889) (stating, in relevant part, that “[e]vidence is any matter of fact which is furnished to a legal tribunal” (emphasis added)). The State did not proffer any of the matters in the long block quote of the judge’s remarks. For another, that’s important because the circuit court also noted—just prior to that sua sponte finding—that Deputy Colburn never explained why he found certain things odd about Dr. Little’s property. (R. pp. 160–61).

This is fatal to the State’s case. As noted above, the State had the burden of proof. Yet the State can only point to the circuit court’s statements, details of the crime scene,¹ and Deputy Colburn’s testimony that “you do not know.” (R. p. 550). Interestingly, the State seeks to revive the previously abandoned argument that “there was plenty of room to park within the driveway.” Return at 15. The pictures prove that is simply not true. (R. pp. 1265, 1286–87). Further, the State’s new spin on the case—that Dr. Little’s house was a “strange scene”—finds no support in the record. Return at 15. Nothing is “strange” about a Toyota Sequoia having one tire barely off the driveway at a two-story colonial home in an upper-middle-class neighborhood in West Ashley. (R. pp. 1265, 1286–87, 547, 161). And Deputy Colburn did not see the window down until his second lap around the vehicle after it had already been cleared. (R. pp. 516–17).

¹ But see State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 218–19, 692 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2009) (Kittredge, J., concurring) (“disagree[ing] that, from an objective standard, exigent circumstances existed upon the arrival of law enforcement at Herring’s residence two hours after the shooting of John Johnson at Chastity’s strip club” and stating that the peek into the garage was “an unwarranted trespass and warrantless search” but finding this search yielded no evidence (emphasis added)).

With all due respect, no ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under these circumstances, would believe an invasive 90-second search in the curtilage of someone's home was justified to protect the safety of officers or others. After all, Deputy Colburn testified that Dr. Little was not a suspect, he did not believe Dr. Little was hiding, and he did not believe Dr. Little was armed and dangerous. At most, the State had a hunch that something was off that evening. But an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch" will not do. Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 332 (1990) (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968)). That is not tantamount to probable cause.

The State seeks to muddy the water with a straw man argument that Deputy Colburn was entitled to "approach[] the front door" for a knock and talk. Return at 15. No one disputes that. But that's not what happened here. Rather, Deputy Colburn scrupulously searched Dr. Little's vehicle twice over at least a 90-second period. The vehicles, which were parked in the curtilage, were not near the front door, and Deputy Colburn had to stray beyond the path a visitor would normally traverse to go knock on the front door. Further, the alleged reason for this intrusion—to search for persons who may be hiding—could have been ascertained in a few seconds with the aid of his flashlight. Thus, the warrantless search was not reasonably "limited in scope and duration" when measured against the purported exigent circumstances Deputy Colburn said justified his presence in the first instance. State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 530, 765 S.E.2d 564, 570 (2014).

In Jardines, "the question" was "precisely whether the officer's conduct was an objectively reasonable search." Id. at 10. As the Court recognized, "that depends upon whether the officers had an implied license to enter the porch, which in turn depends upon the purpose for which they entered." Id. And "their behavior objectively reveal[ed] a purpose to conduct a search, which is not what anyone would think he had license to do." Id. A review of Deputy Colburn's actions—making multiple laps around Dr. Little's vehicle with a flashlight for over 90 seconds, paying such

close attention to the interior that he was able to notice a smudge on the inside of a door and towels in the floorboard—demonstrates he was not clearing the vehicles to eliminate potential danger. Instead, he was plainly conducting a search for evidence. And that violates the Fourth Amendment because “the circumstances, viewed objectively,” did not “justify [the] action.” Herring, 387 S.C. at 210, 692 S.E.2d at 494 (quoting Scott v. United States, 436 U.S. 128, 138 (1978)).

Last, the State tries to rescue the illegal search by arguing “one can infer reasonableness from law enforcement’s subsequent decision to obtain a search warrant for the car.” Return at 16 (citing State v. Johnson, 410 S.C. 10, 20, 763 S.E.2d 36, 42 (Ct. App. 2014); State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 351 n.3, 592 S.E.2d 344, 348 n.3 (Ct. App. 2004)). The State, however, overlooks an important distinguishing fact. Here, the “subsequent decision” was for Detective Muirhead to conduct another illegal search of the vehicle. Only after he confirmed Deputy Colburn’s findings did officers bother to trying to obtain a warrant. And that warrant application was tainted by the findings of the two illegal searches. The State does not and cannot argue to the contrary. Indeed, to this day, the State has yet to explain or defend this second search. It was plainly illegal. Under these circumstances, the State finds no refuge in Johnson or Abdullah.

In sum, the State’s post-hoc justifications for exigent circumstances do not pass the smell test. Deputy Colburn was not concerned with Dr. Little’s welfare. And the scope and duration of his search demonstrate he was not concerned with officer safety. He was looking for evidence. That does not satisfy the Fourth Amendment’s touchstone of reasonableness. Consequently, all evidence obtained from the unlawful searches should have been suppressed.

B. Dr. Little’s state constitutional argument is preserved and requires reversal.

The State seeks to recycle its preservation argument to avoid this Court’s review, arguing Dr. Little somehow abandoned the state constitutional issue on appeal. Not so.

A review of the record reveals that (1) Dr. Little argued to the circuit court that the State’s illegal search violated article I, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution; (2) the circuit court ruled on it and said, “I’m glad to see that y’all have raised the South Carolina Constitution issue,” (R. p. 159); (3) Dr. Little raised the argument in his brief, (Br. App. at 9–10, 15, 27); (4) the State responded to the argument in its brief² (Br. Resp. at 14, 20); (5) Dr. Little’s counsel addressed the issue during oral arguments on January 12, 2021; (6) Dr. Little argued in his petition for rehearing that the panel failed to address the state constitutional issue in its initial opinion; (7) the court of appeals granted Dr. Little’s petition for rehearing and addressed the issue in a substituted opinion; and (8) Dr. Little argued the insufficiency and incorrectness of the court of appeals’ holding in a petition for rehearing of the substituted opinion, which was denied.

Nothing else was required to preserve the issue for this Court’s review. See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) (stating error preservation “is not a ‘gotcha’ game aimed at embarrassing attorneys or harming litigants”). If the state constitutional issue were truly abandoned, the court of appeals would not have granted rehearing and issued a substituted opinion solely to address it. The State’s argument is specious.

In its one footnote addressing the merits, the State whistles past Dr. Little’s arguments about the applicability and continued validity of State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 649 S.E.2d 479 (2007). The Court’s analysis in Weaver hinged on the fact that, as of 2007, “there ha[d] never been a clear statement by the United States Supreme Court that a warrant is required before a vehicle is searched in a private place.” 374 S.C. at 322 n.2, 649 S.E.2d at 483 n.2. As the State

² Ironically, the State did not raise this issue in its Brief of Respondent. Instead, the State waited until its return in opposition to Dr. Little’s petition for rehearing. That was too late. See I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (“Of course, a respondent may abandon an additional sustaining ground under the present rules—just as a respondent could under the former rules—by failing to raise it in the appellate brief.”).

well knows, that is no longer the case. *E.g.*, Collins v. Virginia, 138 S. Ct. 1663, 1672 (2018) (holding that “searching a vehicle parked in the curtilage involves not only the invasion of the Fourth Amendment interest in the vehicle but also an invasion of the sanctity of the curtilage”). Further, Weaver was decided under the automobile exception to the warrant requirement. Here, on the other hand, the State is arguing exigent circumstances justified its unlawful search of Dr. Little’s vehicle parked within the curtilage. As explained above, they did not.

Thus, for the reasons outlined in Dr. Little’s petition, the State’s trespass into the curtilage of Dr. Little’s home to conduct an unlawful search constituted an unreasonable invasion of privacy in violation of article I, section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution.

II. The State cannot rewrite history on its prejudicial reference to the suppressed ring during closing argument.

Although the State previously focused on the prejudice prong, it now seeks to resurrect its justification of the assistant solicitor’s actions. It cannot defend the indefensible.

Before trial, the circuit court forbade the State from mentioning the suppressed ring due to the unconstitutional means by which it was unlawfully seized from Dr. Little following a Miranda violation. The State did so anyway and highlighted the never-before-seen-evidence on a PowerPoint slide that incredulously said, “(no ring???)” (R. pp. 1161, 1306). Curiously, the State removed the flippant question marks when quoting the PowerPoint slide in its return. Resp. Return at 19. The slide presented to the jury, of course, was not similarly scrubbed.

Under South Carolina law, closing “[a]rguments must be confined to evidence in the record.” State v. Huggins, 325 S.C. 103, 107, 481 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1997). Here, the State’s closing was not. The State instead gave “the impression to the jury” it had “evidence not presented to the jury but known by the prosecution which supports conviction.” Matthews, 350 S.C. at 276, 565 S.E.2d at 768. Taking down the slide down did nothing—the cat was out of the bag. To that

end, the State makes Dr. Little's prejudice argument for him, noting "[o]ne could reasonably draw the inference that [Dr. Little] was cleaning up after the murder and had removed his ring." Return at 21. But that's the problem: the jury likely did make that inference. The State further concedes the prosecutor's statement "went to the heart of the State's case: connecting the victim's blood to [Dr. Little]." Resp. Br. at 23. That is not harmless error. Reversal is therefore "dictated by . . . the ends of public justice." State v. Prince, 279 S.C. 30, 33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983).

III. The State does not and cannot meet its burden of proving outsole footwear impressions testimony is admissible by citing cases from other jurisdictions for the first time on appeal.

Finally, the State does not even attempt to wrestle with the reliability analysis for outsole footwear impressions testimony. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517 (1999) (stating when "considering the admissibility of scientific evidence," an appellate court generally looks at "(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures").

Nor could it. As for the first factor, the court of appeals simply found "Claycomb testified she read publications on the subject and explained she was familiar with others experts' research on fundamental footwear patterns." Little, Op. No. 2021-UP-196, at 4. Which ones? The State never told the circuit court or the court of appeals. Turning to the fourth factor, the court of appeals concluded Claycomb "explained the procedures and steps she used when comparing footprint impressions." Id. But that is not the same as showing the method was consistent "with recognized scientific laws and procedures." Council, 335 S.C. at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517. Again, the State did not elicit testimony from Claycomb to establish consistency with any identifiable scientific laws and procedures. And it has failed to articulate any on appeal.

In support of reliability, the State simply cites cases from other jurisdictions to summarily argue the court of appeals properly found the evidence reliable. That argument fails for at least two reasons. First, the State did not mention any of those cases to the circuit court below. Second, the State is not entitled to a pass on reliability just because other jurisdictions have recognized the admissibility of outsole footwear impressions testimony. To date, this Court has not. In fact, in the only related case on the subject, the Court found footwear impressions evidence inadmissible in South Carolina. See State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 572, 541 S.E.2d 813, 818 (2001) (Jones I); State v. Jones, 383 S.C. 535, 557–58, 681 S.E.2d 580, 592 (2009) (Jones II). Interestingly, the Court there rejected the publications and testimony of William Bodziak—the very individual under whom Claycomb trained—as unreliable. See id.; (R. p. 952). And the same holds true here.

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