RECEIVED

Nov 01 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Thomas L. Hughston, Jr. Circuit court Judge

Opinion No. 2021-UP-196 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 9, 2021)

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

GENERAL T. LITTLE,.....PETITIONER

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
Appellate Case No. 2021-001043

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 65282

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1529

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

² Unlike what is stated within the petition. The entire search of all three cars took ninety seconds, there was no ninety second search of the Toyota Sequoia. That means there was a thirty second search of each vehicle, which should be considered reasonable considering the circumstances.

not bar police officers from making warrantless entries and searches when they reasonably believe that a person within is in need of immediate aid.” *Mincey*, 437 U.S. at 392, 98 S.Ct. at 2413.

Deputy Colburn’s actions mirror those taken by law enforcement in *State v. Herring*, 387 S.C. 201, 692 S.E.2d 490 (2009). In *Herring*, this Court decided it, “was objectively reasonable for [the officer] to take precautions to protect his own safety, and the safety of the officers around him, by looking into the garage to see if the suspect was there.” *Id.* 387 S.C. at 211, 692 S.E.2d at 495.

The Petitioner argues that *Herring* is not similar to the present case. However, there are several key similarities between *Herring* and the present case. First, both involved fresh homicide investigations with rapidly developing situations. In *Herring*, the police arrived at the defendant’s house within two hours of the initial shooting, whereas, in this case the police arrived at the Petitioner’s house approximately an hour and twenty minutes after first being dispatched to the murder scene. (R. p. 65 lines 21-22; p. 542 lines 21-24). Second, both cases involved malicious levels of violence. *Herring* involved a shooting death in a parking lot, and the present case involved a gruesome crime scene with the victim being found by Deputy Colburn covered in blood. Third, both involved the narrowly tailored action of looking inside a window located on the curtilage of the home. Fourth, law enforcement in both cases had an obligation to approach a home with little time to act. In *Herring*, the police were trying to locate a suspect of a murder committed in public. In the present case law enforcement had two reasons to locate the Petitioner, to interview him and to conduct a welfare check. Upon waiting an hour for Petitioner to arrive at the crime scene as he agreed, although he only lived five minutes away, (R. p. 89 lines 23-24) law enforcement needed to ensure he was safe.

Petitioner argues that *Herring* does not apply because in *Herring*, they were going after a suspect who was considered armed and dangerous. Officers in the present case had no reason to believe the Petitioner was armed and dangerous. However, the relevant inquiry is the objective of reasonableness of Deputy Colburn's actions in light of the danger posed. Here it was reasonable for Deputy Colburn to understand that: (1) someone was acting with malice that night; and (2) approaching Petitioner's house carried a real risk of coming face to face with that person. Regardless if Deputy Colburn believed Petitioner was a suspect, he believed he was entering a dangerous situation, and that is all you need for an exigent circumstance to exist.

Within his Petition the Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals failed to mention the word curtilage within their opinion. This argument is without merit. The Court of Appeals compared this case with the *Herring* decision, where a law enforcement officer looked into the window of a garage. In *Herring* this Court decided the Fourth Amendment extends that same protection to outbuildings in the curtilage of the home. *Herring*, 387 S.C. at 209, 692 S.E.2d 494, citing, *United States v. Dunn*, 480 U.S. 294, 107 S.Ct. 1134 (1987). So the Court of Appeals agrees that a curtilage falls within Fourth Amendment protections. The Court of Appeals never ruled that the viewing was legal because it was a curtilage. They ruled it was legal due to the exigencies presented at the crime scene and Deputy Colburn's legitimate safety concerns.

South Carolina Constitution

The Petitioner also asserts that the Court of Appeals did not fully analyze the State Constitutional argument. The State Constitution also allows for these exceptions. In their initial brief the Petitioner only made a mere passing reference to the State Constitution. And he never raised any argument that the South Carolina Constitution imposes additional restrictions on top of the Fourth Amendment while acting in the context of exigent circumstances. Within their initial

brief they argued that “[u]nder both constitutions” warrantless searches are impermissible absent a recognized exception. Since they only made a glancing argument at best regarding the State Constitution, the Court of Appeals was under no obligation to address an issue that was not clearly presented in the initial brief. *See, Southern Glass &Plastics Co., Inc. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 498, 732 S.E.2d 205, 213 (Ct. App. 2012)(An argument was abandoned because a litigant only made a passing reference without supporting case law.)

2. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the Circuit court’s denial of Petitioner’s motion for mistrial when the State referenced during closing argument a ring that was suppressed during pre-trial, because the State’s mentioning of this ring did not cause Petitioner any prejudice?

In their closing argument, the State mentioned that the wedding ring of the Petitioner was not present. Assistant Solicitor Baldwin mentioned the testimony of Detective Turner who testified that he asked the Petitioner if he was wearing any jewelry and he didn’t really remember him wearing that. (R. p. 1161 lines 13-16). There was also a PowerPoint presentation revealing the words “no jewelry, no ring” (R. p. 1162 lines 15-16). The mentioning of this statement immediately drew an objection from the Petitioner. (R. p. 1161 lines 17-18). At that time the Petitioner moved for a mistrial. He argued that the State was trying to introduce a fact there was no ring when it was something that was specifically excluded by the trial court. (R. p. 1162 lines 3-7). The trial court denied Petitioner’s motion for a mistrial, but the trial judge did order that the PowerPoint be taken down. (R. p. 1162 lines 23-25). The State immediately complied with the order of the trial court and removed the PowerPoint. (R. p. 1163 line 4). The Petitioner now argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s decision to deny the motion for mistrial.

Standard of Review

It is well settled that the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Prince*, 316 S.C. 57, 67, 447 S.E.2d 177, 183 (1993). Declaring a mistrial “is an extreme measure which should be taken only where an incident is so grievous that prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” *Earley v. State*, 418 S.C. 255, 267, 792 S.E.2d 226, 233 (2016), quoting, *State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 277, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999). The circuit court’s decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. *Stanley*, 365 S.C. at 33, 615 S.E.2d at 460.

Analysis

The circuit court has wide discretion in handling the propriety of the solicitor’s closing argument to the jury, and ordinarily those rulings will not be disturbed on appeal. *State v. New*, 338 S.C. 313, 318, 526 S.E.2d 237, 240 (Ct. App. 1999). The State’s closing argument must be confined to evidence contained in the record, and any reasonable inferences drawn therefrom. *Id.* The solicitor has the right not only to argue the State’s version of the facts, but also to comment on the weight the jury should give those facts. *Id.* at 319. Furthermore, failure to confine arguments to evidence contained in the record does not automatically warrant a mistrial. *State v. Huggins*, 325 S.C. 103, 107, 481 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1997). A new trial will be granted only when the solicitor’s “comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *Id.* On appeal, the defendant bears the burden of showing an improper comment deprived him a fair trial. *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 187, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

The circuit court properly denied appellant’s motion for a mistrial because the solicitor confined her argument to facts contained in the record and reasonable inferences therefrom. As discussed above, during appellant’s interview at the Sheriff’s Department, a detective collected

appellant's clothing in order to preserve any evidentiary value it might have. That detective subsequently found a ring, although there was not enough DNA on it to develop a profile. (R. p. 203 line 4-15). During pre-trial hearings, the circuit court ruled that Petitioner's statements during the interview were admissible, but the search of his clothes was inadmissible because it was not incident to arrest or consensual. (R. p. 232 lines 15-22, 233 lines 18-25). Officers further testified that during execution of the search warrant, Petitioner's bathroom smelled like bleach even though the bathroom did not appear to have been recently cleaned. (R. p. 665 lines 15-19).

Facts contained in the record were: (1) Petitioner was not wearing jewelry; (2) Petitioner was married to Carla Washington; and, (3) Petitioner's bathroom smelled like bleach but had not been recently cleaned. One could reasonably draw the inference that Petitioner was cleaning up after the murder and had removed his ring. The State rightfully made that argument because it was confined to reasonable inferences contained in the record. As the State noted to the circuit court, Assistant Solicitor Baldwin did not reference collecting a ring, blood on a ring, or Petitioner's clothing. (R. p. 1162 lines 11-14).

The State limited their argument to evidence contained in the record, but Petitioner also suffered no prejudice. As confirmed by the Court of Appeals in *Little*,

“The slide did not inform the jury of the blood evidence on the wedding band, and the slide was presented to jury only briefly before the trial court ordered the State to take down the reference to the ring, which the trial court had excluded in its earlier evidentiary hearing. Without the broader context of the ring's blood evidence, the State's error did not prejudice Little, and we are unconvinced by Little's argument that because wedding bands are symbolic, the fact he was not wearing one inherently prejudiced him.” *Little*, 2021 WL 3085417.

If Petitioner had the victim's blood on his hands he would have needed to remove his ring in order to wash the blood off. An adequate argument was made by the State that included the evidence in the record. The Petitioner was not prejudiced, so no mistrial was necessary.

The State's case against the Petitioner was also overwhelming. On appeal the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor's argument in the context of the entire record, including . . . whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. *Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 165 (1998). Law enforcement found the victim's blood on the driver's door, and passenger seat of Petitioner's vehicle, as well as on the Petitioner's shoes. (R. p. 989 line 14-21; p. 994 lines 12-13). At the time of the murder Petitioner was not answering his phone calls from his daughter, even though he has just arranged to meet her for dinner. (R. p. 449 lines 20-22). He avoided law enforcement for over an hour, and his house still smelled of bleach when it was searched later that night. (R. p. 665 lines 15-19; p. 790 lines 4-5). There was also a motive to kill, after being served that day with a rule to show cause for failure to pay over sixty-eight thousand (\$68,000.00) dollars in alimony. (R. p. 583 lines 9-21).

For the above mentioned reasons the circuit court was justified in not granting the Petitioner a mistrial. The Court of Appeals was correct in affirming the lower court's decision. This matter should not be subject to review by this Honorable Court.

3. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the Circuit court's admission of qualifications and expert testimony from the State's outsole footwear impressions expert.

During trial the State offered as an expert witness, SLED agent Dawn Claycomb. Before Agent Claycomb testified to the jury, the State proffered testimony regarding her qualifications and the reliability of the field of footwear examination. (R. pp. 946-955). After hearing arguments the trial court overruled Petitioner's objections as to her qualifications and the reliability of the

subject matter. (R. p. 955 lines 11-13). Agent Claycomb testified that she compared a photograph of a bloody shoe print taken at the crime scene with inked impressions taken from shoes found in Petitioner's house. (R. 969 lines 1-22). She found the two had corresponding tread designs, but could not match them because the photograph of the blood shoe print had not been taken at precisely a ninety degree angle. (R. p. 975 lines 12 - p. 976 lines 1-15).

Standard of Review

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court's factual conclusions. *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 537, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495 (2016). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 566, 816 S.E.2d 566, 574 (2018).

Analysis

A witness is competent as an expert when he or she has acquired knowledge, skill or experience so that he or she is better able than the jury to form an opinion on the subject matter. *State v. Robinson*, 396 S.C. 577, 586, 722 S.E.2d 820, 825 (Ct. App. 2012). The circuit court properly qualified Agent Claycomb as an expert in footwear examination. She testified that she initially received between eight months and a year of basic crime scene training which involved recovery, collection, enhancement and preservation of footwear evidence. (R. p. 947 lines 17-20). She also completed three years of footwear specific training, consisting of research, written examinations and supervised casework. (R. p. 947 lines 21-24). She also received training with an internationally recognized expert in the field and completed a class with the International

Association of Identification. (R. p. 959 lines 8-18). In addition to her training she has been the lead agent on fifteen to twenty cases of footwear examination. (R. p. 962 line 15). Her results were also peer reviewed by SLED Agent Melinda Worley (R. p. 961 line 6).

Footwear identification has also been a widely accepted form of identification in numerous jurisdictions all over the country. *See, United State v. Ford*, 481 F.3d 215 (3d. Cir. 2007)(District Court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the expert testimony regarding the shoeprint evidence.); *United States v. Allen*, 390 F.3d 944 (7th Cir. 2004)(Expert shoe-print testimony proffered in bank burglary prosecution satisfied the reliability prong of *Daubert.*); *State v. Gray*, 145 A.3d 1066(N.H. 2016)(Expert testimony regarding footwear comparison, which indicated that murder defendant's shoes could have made impressions found at the crime scene, was relevant and thus admissible.) As the Second Circuit court of Appeals observed, “[c]ourts have admitted shoeprint identification evidence for a long time.” *Ford*, 481 F.3d at 218 n.4.

Even if the Petitioner could reveal that the Court of Appeals committed an error in allowing this testimony into evidence, this error should be considered harmless. The agent testimony that the Petitioner's shoes had a similar tread design as the print at the crime scene was cumulative to other evidence. (R. 979 lines 18-19). The victim's blood was found on those pairs of shoes. (R. p. 992 lines 14-15; R. p. 994 lines 12-14). The victim's blood was also found in the Petitioner's vehicle. There was more than enough evidence without the shoe print analysis to prove the Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. A trial court's error is harmless when “it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict obtained. *State v. Trapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012), *quoting, State v. Charping*, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits Petitioner has failed to show that the question presented warrants certiorari review. This Court should deny this petition for writ of certiorari and let stand the decision of the Court of Appeals.